
City of Pompano Beach 100 W. Atlantic Blvd.

Pompano Beach, Florida 

33060

Detailed Minutes - Final

Community Redevelopment Agency
Rex Hardin, Chairperson

Barry Moss, Vice Chairperson

Andrea McGee, Board Member

Rhonda Eaton, Board Member

Tom McMahon, Board Member

Beverly Perkins, Board Member

Gregory P. Harrison, Executive Director

Claudia McKenna, CRA Attorney

Marsha Carmichael, CRA Secretary

5:30 PM Commission ChamberTuesday, December 17, 2019

CALL TO ORDER

Chairman Hardin called the CRA Board Meeting to order at 5:33 PM.

Board Member Rhonda Eaton, Board Member Andrea McGee, Board 

Member Beverly Perkins, Vice Chair Barry Moss, and Chairperson Rex 

Hardin

Present

ROLL CALL

Board Member Rhonda Eaton, Board Member Andrea McGee, Board 

Member Beverly Perkins, Vice Chair Barry Moss, and Chairperson Rex 

Hardin

Present

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

CRA Board Meeting Minutes November 19, 201920-179

A motion was made by Vice Chair Moss, seconded by Board Member 

McGee, that the Minutes be APPROVED. The motion carried by a 

unanimous voice vote.

APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Items 2 and 6 were pulled and postponed until the Board Meeting on January 23, 2020. 

A motion was made by Vice Chair Moss, seconded by Board Member 

Perkins, that the AGENDA be APPROVED. The motion carried by a 

unanimous voice vote.

CONSENT AGENDA DISCUSSION

Item #1 was pulled from the Consent Agneda and moved to the Regular Agenda. 

Page 1City of Pompano Beach

http://pompano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=3890


December 17, 2019Community Redevelopment Agency Detailed Minutes - Final

The CRA Board may pull items from the Consent Agenda. During Audience To Be Heard, a person may 

speak on any item on the Consent Agenda, which has not been pulled.

A.  SPECIAL PRESENTATION

Presentation on the relocation of the historic McClellan Office and proposed adaptive reuse of 

the structure.

(Fiscal Impact: N/A)

20-177

(Staff Contact: Nguyen Tran/Chris Brown)

Nguyen Tran, CRA Director, introduced Chris Brown as the Consultant and Project 

Manager for the McClellan office building.  Mr. Brown gave a brief presentation regarding 

the history of the McClellan family, the McClellan building, and Dr. McClellan's influence 

on Pompano Beach. Mr. Brown stated the importance of cultural and heritage tourism 

and said this building would be added to the Pompano Beach Cultural Tourism Trail. 

Chris Brown said as part of his outreach he has presented this potential project to CP Old 

Town Square LLC & T E P M, Inc., The Historical Society, CRA, NWCRA Advisory 

Committee, Historic Preservation Board, Old Pompano Civic Association, Old Town 

Improvement District, McClellan family descendants, and other residents and 

stakeholders. He explained the project would include moving the McClellan building and 

turning it into a small cafe/wine bar. The project's estimated timeline is two years and the 

cost to relocate and renovate the building is approximately $400,000. Nguyen Tran 

requested the Board consider this item as a project.  

Vicente Thrower, 1890 NW 6th Ave., would like the history of Esther Rolle and her home 

preserved and turned into a project.  

Jerry Bowman, representing the Historical Society and the Pompano Beach Historic 

Preservation Board residing at 717 NE 3rd St., explained the type of construction of the 

building wasn't prevelant at the time it was built.  He gave a brief history of the McClellan 

family and stated his support for saving the building.  He would also like to add the 

property to the local historic preservation registry and add it to the tour to remember the 

McClellan family and the office building.  

Mike Skversky, 1630 SW 5th Ave., asked who owned the building.  Chairman Hardin 

answered the building is owned by the Developer, Adam Adache. Mr. Skversky said he 

supports saving the building but we shouldn't spend the money.  

Tom Drumm, 2700 NE 8th St., said he supports preserving the history of Pompano but 

doesn't want residents to pay for moving houses and suggested the Historical Society pay 

to move the building. 

Page 2City of Pompano Beach

http://pompano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=3888


December 17, 2019Community Redevelopment Agency Detailed Minutes - Final

Rose Puerto, 525 N. Ocean Blvd., asked why the building needs to be relocated.  

Chairman Hardin explained the land is being developed. 

Dierdra Hunter, 1470 SW 14th Way., asked about property located East of Copans near 

a mill company.  Chairman Hardin directed her to speak with Nguyen Tran.

Pat Rowley, 610 NE 3rd St., supports moving and restoring the building.  

Ms. Simmons, 208 NW 15th Place, supports the McClellan project and would also like 

the Cristwell/Braggs building saved. 

Board Member McMahon stated he was abstaining from the discussion and the vote 

due to conflict as his father owns the property where the house would be relocated.  

Board Member Moss asked if the City was purchasing the property where the building 

is being relocated.  Claudia McKenna, CRA Attorney, stated the CRA leases that 

property from T E P M, Inc. 

Board Member Perkins doesn't object to the project but wishes more of the history on 

Martin Luther King Blvd. was saved throughout the years. She would like to see Esther 

Rolle's home and the Westview Cemetary preserved. 

Board Member McGee likes the concept of the project but is concerned about not 

owning the land where the building is being moved. 

Chairman Hardin explained the motion is only to make the McClellan building a project 

and questions and concerns will be addressed as staff moves forward and the project 

develops. 

Nguyen Tran explained staff will come back with recommendations about funding the 

project.   

A motion was made by Vice Chair Moss, seconded by Board Member 

Eaton, that the Presentation be ACCEPTED and to make the 

McClellan Building a Project. The motion carried by the following roll 

call vote:

Page 3City of Pompano Beach



December 17, 2019Community Redevelopment Agency Detailed Minutes - Final

Yes: Board Member Eaton, Board Member McGee, Board Member Perkins, Vice 

Chair Moss, and Chairperson Hardin

Abstain: McMahon

B.  AUDIENCE TO BE HEARD

All persons interested in speaking during "Audience To Be Heard" must fill out a request form and 

turn it in to the CRA Secretary prior to the meeting.

C.  CONSENT AGENDA

Item 1 on Consent Agenda was pulled from Consent.  

1. A RESOLUTION OF THE POMPANO BEACH COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY (CRA) APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE PROPER OFFICIALS TO 

EXECUTE A FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE PROPERTY DISPOSITION AND 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CRA AND GO ECO HOMES, LLC. 

RELATING TO SIX VACANT INFILL HOUSING PARCELS IN THE NORTHWEST 

CRA DISTRICT TO EXTEND THE CONSTRUCTION COMPLETION DATE TO 

MARCH 1, 2020; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

(Fiscal Impact: N/A)

20-172

(Staff Contact: Nguyen Tran)

Nguyen Tran explained the developer requested an extension on November 20 for 6 lots 

on NW 9th Street. The developer cited many permitting delays and requested an 

extension until March 1.  Nguyen Tran stated the item has been amended requesting an 

extension until December 1, 2020.   

A motion was made by Vice Chair Moss, seconded by Board Member Perkins, 

that the CRA Resolution be AMENDED to reflect the extension date of December 

1, 2020. The motion carried by the following roll call vote:

Yes: Board Member Eaton, Board Member McGee, Board Member McMahon, Board 

Member Perkins, Vice Chair Moss, and Chairperson Hardin.

Board Member McGee expressed her concerns for granting extensions to developers 

and not holding them accountable to their timelines. Chairman Hardin agreed. 

Board Member Perkins asked if the properties are secured.  Nguyen Tran explained 

the homes are being manufactured offsite.  

A motion was made by Vice Chair Moss, seconded by Board Member 

Perkins, that the CRA Resolution be APPROVED. The motion 

carried by the following roll call vote:

Page 4City of Pompano Beach

http://pompano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=3883


December 17, 2019Community Redevelopment Agency Detailed Minutes - Final

Yes: Board Member Eaton, Board Member McGee, McMahon, Board Member 

Perkins, Vice Chair Moss, and Chairperson Hardin

D.      REGULAR AGENDA

2. A RESOLUTION OF THE POMPANO BEACH COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY (CRA) APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE PROPER OFFICIALS TO 

EXECUTE A SUBLEASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CRA AND BROWARD 

SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT RELATING TO PROPERTY LOCATED AT 731 DR. 

MARTIN LUTHER KING JR BOULEVARD, UNIT 101A AND 102B, POMPANO 

BEACH, FLORIDA; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR OTHER 

PURPOSES.

(Fiscal Impact: N/A)

POSTPONED FROM DECEMBER 17, 2019

20-111

(Staff Contact: Kimberly Vazquez)

This Item was postponed until the January 23, 2020, CRA Board Meeting. 

The CRA Resolution was TABLED.

Enactment No: CRA RES. 2020-13

3. A RESOLUTION OF THE POMPANO BEACH COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY (CRA), APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE PROPER OFFICIALS TO 

EXECUTE A FAÇADE AND BUSINESS SITE IMPROVEMENT GRANT 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CRA AND INNOVATE FOOD GROUP LLC 

RELATING TO THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 165 NE 1ST AVENUE; PROVIDING 

AN EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES.

(Fiscal Impact: $40,000)

20-174

(Staff Contact: Kimberly Vazquez)

Kimberly Vazquez, Project Manager, gave a presentation for Item #3 and Item #4 

together.  She explained Innovate Food Group is requesting a Facade and Business Site 

Improvement Grant and a Strategic Investment Program Grant.  The grant funds 

requested total $190,000 and the total cost of improvements by the developer are 

estimated at $1.2 Million.  

Tom Drumm, 2700 NE 8th St., said the city shouldn't be paying for interior work for a 

restaurant.  

Mike Skversky, 1630 SW 5th Ave., asked who owns the property. Kim Vazquez 

answered T E P M, Inc. owns the property. Mike Skversky asked who funds the SIP 

program. Chairman Hardin answered the CRA funds the program. Mr. Skversky said 

Page 5City of Pompano Beach

http://pompano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=3821
http://pompano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=3885


December 17, 2019Community Redevelopment Agency Detailed Minutes - Final

we are giving money to people who don't need it.

Tom Terwilliger, 3160 NW 1st Ave., read a prepared statement regarding the lease of the 

property. He said the documents for both items are identical regarding the interior and 

exterior work which he stated is incorrect. Claudia McKenna explained this is a single 

project but the funding for the grants is from two different sources so there are two 

separate items even though they used the same exhibit.

Lauren McGee, 560 SE 23rd Ave., said she showed this same property a few years ago 

before the improvements started.  She explained the funding by the CRA has helped the 

area to become ready for activation and development.  She is excited about the project.  

Rose Puerto, 525 N. Ocean, said she supports bringing in new restaurants but feels there 

is an appearance of conflicts of interest.   

Vice Chair Moss explained this is what CRAs do, they give economic incentives to 

bring businesses to the area.  He stated the CRA can't give money to homeless people or 

anything else other than these types of things. He said he doesn't see a conflict and said 

the McMahon family has been in the area for a long time and has held the community 

together by investing.  

Board Member McMahon stated he is abstaining from discussion and voting as his 

family owns the property.    

Board Member McGee said anyone with a direct conflict will recuse themselves.   

Board Member Eaton said the private contribution is over a million dollars so she 

supports the incentive program.  She is excited about the restaurant and the entire area.     

Board Member Perkins asked if the funds come from the CRA.  Kim Vazquez 

answered yes.

A motion was made by Vice Chair Moss, seconded by Board Member 

Perkins, that the CRA Resolution be APPROVED. The motion 

carried by the following roll call vote:

Yes: Board Member Eaton, Board Member McGee, Vice Chair Moss, and 

Chairperson Hardin

No: Board Member Perkins

Abstain: McMahon

Page 6City of Pompano Beach



December 17, 2019Community Redevelopment Agency Detailed Minutes - Final

4. A RESOLUTION OF THE POMPANO BEACH COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY (CRA), APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE PROPER OFFICIALS TO 

EXECUTE A STRATEGIC INVESTMENT PROGRAM GRANT AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE CRA AND INNOVATE FOOD GROUP, LLC RELATING TO THE 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 165 NE 1ST AVENUE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES.

(Fiscal Impact: $150,000)

20-176

(Staff Contact: Kimberly Vazquez)

Kim Vazquez explained this is the companion item to Item #3 and clarified this is a 

reimbursable grant which means the developer will pay for the work then be reimbursed 

by the CRA program.  She also clarified there was one exhibit for construction which 

was used for both items in the backup but the funds are separate.  

Mike Skversky, 1630 SW 5th Ave., said money shouldn't be given to people who don't 

need money.

Rose Puerto, 525 N. Ocean Blvd., asked if anyone can receive a grant. Chairman 

Hardin explained it is an incentive program to attract developers and business owners to 

the area but they are approved on an individual basis.  

Tom Terwilliger, 3160 NW 1st Ave., stated exhibit A is incorrect. 

Chairman Hardin thanked Mr. Linder for coming to the area and investing in the Old 

Town area.

Board Member McMahon stated he is abstaining from voting on this item due to a 

conflict as his father owns the property.  

A motion was made by Vice Chair Moss, seconded by Board Member 

Perkins, that the CRA Resolution be APPROVED. The motion 

carried by the following roll call vote:

Yes: Board Member Eaton, Board Member McGee, Vice Chair Moss, and 

Chairperson Hardin

No: Board Member Perkins

Abstain: McMahon

5. Consideration of a Term Sheet for 44 NE 1st Avenue and Adjacent Vacant Property owned 

by the CRA for Patio Area.

(Fiscal Impact: N/A)

20-173

Page 7City of Pompano Beach

http://pompano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=3887
http://pompano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=3884


December 17, 2019Community Redevelopment Agency Detailed Minutes - Final

(Staff Contact: Kimberly Vazquez)

Kimberly Vazquez presented the item to the Board and explained the Lean Grill LLC is 

interested in opening a restaurant, Papamigos, at 44 NE 1st St. as well as leasing the patio 

area.  Troy Ganter gave a brief history of his restaurants owned by himself and his family. 

He is excited about bringing his brand to the area and appreciates the CRA and work 

being done to the area.  Chairman Hardin thanked him for his interest in the area. 

Vice Chair Moss said this is the work the CRA does to bring businesses to the area 

which brings visitors and tax revenue.  

A motion was made by Vice Chair Moss, seconded by Board Member 

Perkins, that the Item for Consideration/Discussion be APPROVED. 

The motion carried by the following roll call vote:

Yes: Board Member Eaton, Board Member McGee, McMahon, Board Member 

Perkins, Vice Chair Moss, and Chairperson Hardin

6. A RESOLUTION OF THE POMPANO BEACH COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY (CRA), APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE PROPER OFFICIALS TO 

EXECUTE A CONTRACT FOR SALE AND PURCHASE BETWEEN THE POMPANO 

BEACH COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY AND G-1 INVESTMENTS, 

LLC RELATING TO TWO PARCELS LOCATED AT 704 AND 706-708 DR. MARTIN 

LUTHER KING JR. BOULEVARD, POMPANO BEACH, IN THE AMOUNT OF 

$650,000.00; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES.

(Fiscal Impact: $650,000.00)

POSTPONED FROM DECEMBER 17, 2019

20-175

(Staff Contact: Nguyen Tran)

This Item was postponed until the January 23, 2020, CRA Board Meeting. 

The CRA Resolution was TABLED.

E.  REPORTS

Greg Harrison wished everyone a Merry Christmas.

Claudia McKenna wished everyone a very Happy Holiday Season and a New Year 

filled with joy.

Chairman Hardin reminded everyone of the change to the meeting date to January 23, 

2020. 

Board Member Eaton wished everyone a wonder holiday season and a Happy New 

Year.

Page 8City of Pompano Beach

http://pompano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=3886


December 17, 2019Community Redevelopment Agency Detailed Minutes - Final

Board Member McGee wished everyone Happy Holidays and a Happy New Year.

Board Member McMahon wished everyone Happy Holidays and Merry Christmas. 

Board Member Perkins reminded everyone about the BSO Christmas Extravaganza on 

December 16-19 at E. Pat Larkins. She also wished everyone a Merry Christmas and 

Happy New Year.  

Vice Chair Moss said he is concerned about the lack of civility in the chamber.  He said 

it bothers him when people use inflammatory language and would like the meetings more 

structured to discourage these types of personal attacks. He also wished everyone a 

Happy Holiday Season.

Chairman Hardin agreed with Vice Chair Moss and said he hopes everyone is on their 

best behavior in the New Year. He wished everyone Happy Holidays and he looks 

forward to 2020.  

Monthly Reports for November 2019

- Northwest Advisory Committee

- East Advisory Committee

- Staff Report

- November Financial Summaries

- PSC Security Reports - November

20-180

The Informational Report was RECEIVED AND FILED.

F.  ADJOURNMENT

Chairman Hardin adjourned the CRA Board Meeting at 6:53 PM. 

Page 9City of Pompano Beach

http://pompano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=3891

